IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,)
)
) Plaintiff and Respondent,)
)
) NO. S244166
) APPEAL No. E064206
) (Riverside County No.
) RIF1310007/
) RIF1403693)
)
)
) vs.)
)
)
)
) JASON AARON ARREDONDO,)
)
)
) Defendant and Appellant.)
)



SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAY 18 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Appeal from the Superior Court of Riverside County
Honorable DAVID A GUNN

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STEVEN A. TORRES, ESQ. (State Bar 144381)
TORRES & TORRES
PMB 332
3579 East Foothill Boulevard
Pasadena, California 91107
Torres144381@gmail.com
(626) 836-5855
Attorneys for Defendant and Appellant
JASON AARON ARREDONDO

ISSUE ON REVIEW

Was defendant’s right to confrontation violated when he was unable to see witnesses as they testified because the trial court allowed a computer monitor on the witness stand to be raised several inches to allow them to testify without seeing him when they testified in his presence?

INTRODUCTION

This case presents an issue of first impression in California, a gray area left unanswered by U.S. Supreme Court precedent on Sixth Amendment

rights of confrontation. In essence, the trial court allowed an entire screen (a computer monitor) to be placed between appellant and three witnesses accusing him of sexual molestations. While *Maryland v. Craig* (1990) 497 U.S. 836 (*Craig*), upheld allowing a minor victim of sexual assault to testify via CCTV, the screen in this case wholly blocked appellant's view of the witness. Appellant objected to its use for the first witness, an 18 year old adult, which the court overruled after a brief hearing. As to the two other witnesses, both minors, counsel did not object and the court did not have a hearing as to them. The main Opinion found *Craig* applied to adults, that there was no 6th Amendment violation, and appellant forfeited his claims as to the other witnesses. The dissenting Opinion, while agreeing that *Craig* could apply to an adult, found the prosecutor had not met its burden that accommodations were required and that in any event the chosen method was too restrictive.

Appellant makes the following arguments:

a) A motion was required by the prosecution in line with Penal Code section 1347 regarding the use of CCTV for minors. Further, expert testimony should be required as under Evidence Code section 240 (as required under Penal Code section 1346), or at least the witness herself should have been required to testify as outlined in section 1347.

b) The use of any accommodation must be shown by the prosecution under a clear and convincing standard, as set forth in section 1347.

c) The accommodations should not apply to adults or at least, if it does apply, should be severely curtailed to those such as set forth in *People v. Williams* (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 995.

d) Even if it does apply in this case, the standard for necessity was not met.

e) Even if the standard for necessity was met, the accommodation in this case, a full screen preventing appellant and the witness from seeing each other, should never have been allowed. Either the court should have merely rearranged the courtroom so the witness could look away from appellant or the parties should have utilized CCTV as set forth in section 1347.

f) Finally, if an objection was necessary as to the latter two witnesses (no objection was made by defense counsel), appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A third amended information alleged that appellant, Jason Arredondo, committed 11 counts of lewd acts upon a child under the age or 14, in violation of Penal Code section 288, subdivision (a), one count of lewd acts upon a child under the age or 16, in violation of Penal Code section 288, subdivision (c)(1), one count of oral copulation of a person under the age of 14, in violation of Penal Code section 288a, subdivision (c)(1), one count of sexual penetration of a person under 14, in violation of Penal Code section

289, subdivision (j), and two counts of dissuading a witness, in violation of Penal Code section 136.1, subdivision (a)(1). (1CT 215-222.)

As to each of the counts of violating section 288, subdivision (a), the information also alleged that appellant had engaged in substantial sexual conduct, within the meaning of Penal Code subdivision 1203.066, subdivision (a)(8).¹ The information also alleged, as to all counts, that the crimes were committed against more than one victim, within the meaning of Penal Code section 667.61, subdivision (e)(4). Finally, the information alleged that appellant had suffered a prior serious offense, within the meaning of Penal Code section 667, subdivision (a), a prior prison term, within the meaning of Penal Code section 667.5, subdivision (b), a prior strike conviction, within the meaning of Penal Code sections 667, subdivision (c) and (e)(1), and 1170.12, subdivision (c)(1), and that he had suffered a prior sexual offense, within the meaning of Penal Code section 667.61, subdivision (d)(1). (1CT 215-222.)

On June 9, 2015, on the second day of trial, the prosecution dismissed the two counts of dissuading a witness. On that same date, the court granted appellant's motion to bifurcate the issue of the truth of his prior conviction. (1CT 250-251.)

¹ The information was amended by interlineation to include this allegation as to Counts 10 and 11. (1CT 270; 4RT 717.)

On June 22, 2015, appellant waived his right to a jury trial as to his prior conviction. (1CT 267-268.)

On June 1, 2015, the jury found appellant guilty of all charged crimes and the enhancements true. (1CT 273-275.)²

On August 4, 2015, appellant admitted the truth of his prior convictions and the court denied appellant's motion to strike his strike related prior conviction. On that same date, the court sentenced appellant as follows: pursuant to Penal Code section 667.61, subdivision (a), 25 years to life for each of the 11 counts of violating section 288, subdivision (a), consecutive to each other, for a total of 275 years to life. In addition, the court sentenced appellant to the midterm of 6 years doubled pursuant to the Three Strikes law to 12 years for Count 14 (sexual penetration in violation of Penal Code section 289, subdivision (j)); a consecutive term of 6 years doubled to 12 years for Count 12 (oral copulation in violation of Penal Code section 288a, subdivision (c)(1)); a consecutive term of 2 years doubled to 4 years for Count 1 (lewd and lascivious conduct on person under 16, in violation of Penal Code section 288, subdivision (c)(1)); and a consecutive term of 5 years for the prior serious conviction (Pen. Code, § 667, subd. (a)), for a total

² The Minute Order states that the jury found true the enhancements as to Count 9. (1CT 274.) In fact, the jury found not true the enhancement under Penal Code section 1203.066, subdivision (a)(8), regarding substantial sexual conduct as to this count. (4RT 865.)

determinate term of 33 years. Appellant was therefore sentenced to an aggregate term of 33 years followed by 275 years to life. The trial court also imposed the requisite fines and fees and calculated presentence credits. (2CT 468-471, 510.)

On August 2, 2012, appellant timely filed his notice of appeal from the judgment and sentence. (2CT 508.)

On July 27, 2017, the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, affirmed with directions the judgment and sentence. (Opinion, p. 1.)

This court granted review on November 15, 2017.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Alina G. had three girls, F.R., A.J.R., and A.M.R.. (1RT 83, 86.) F.R.'s best friend was M.C. (1RT 83.) Appellant was Alina's boyfriend and first came into the girls' lives in about 2004. (2RT 230.) At the time they testified, F.R. was 18 (birthdate May 5, 1997), M.C. was 16 (birthdate March 18, 1999), A.J.R. was 14 (birthdate September 9, 2000), and A.M.R. was 13 (birthdate February 27, 2002.) (1RT 83; 2RT 229, 330; 3RT 459.) Appellant was born on December 4, 1974. (3RT 588.)

F.R.

F.R. was about 7 when she first met appellant. (2RT 230.) They all started living together when F.R. was in the 5th grade. (*Ibid.*) Appellant played a parenting role in the family, telling her to do chores and her homework. (2RT 231.)

In general, F.R. recalled appellant touching her chest at four separate houses she lived at with appellant: at his mother's house in Corona; at F.R.'s grandmother's house in Canyon Lake; and at houses on Eugene and Olive Street. (2RT 234.)

One specific incident she recalled was when she was 8 years old. (2RT 235.) She was sleeping in the living room along with other people. (2RT 236.) She was on the floor. (*Ibid.*) Appellant used her hand to rub his penis. (2RT 241.) He did not ejaculate before stopping. (2RT 242.)

In another incident, the family was staying at F.R.'s grandmother's house. (2RT 242-244.) They were there during the time F.R. was in 3rd to 5th grade. (*Ibid.*) Appellant was not living with them. (*Ibid.*) It was in the morning and she was in bed asleep. (*Ibid.*) Appellant touched her again with his penis. (2RT 245.) She could not recall where or in what manner he touched her. (2RT 247.)

One time, appellant put his penis inside either her vagina or her anus when she was eight. (2RT 250-253.) She could not remember which one. (2RT 253.) This happened in the Corona house. (2RT 254.)

Appellant would often touch her breasts. (2RT 248.) He would slide his hand over them and say he was sorry. (*Ibid.*) She would tell him to stop or move away from him. (*Ibid.*) It would happen when no one else was around. (2RT 249.) The touchings would be both over and under clothes. (2RT 248.)

A.J.R.

A.J.R. lived in the Olive Street house when she was 11 or 12 years old. (2RT 333.) She testified that one to two times per week during this period appellant would abuse her. (2RT 336.) Although he most often did so in the garage, he also touched her in her room, her brother's room, and in appellant's room. (2RT 336, 344.)

Appellant would call her to the garage. (2RT 335.) He would go towards the tools, not do anything with them, then come touch her. (2RT 337.) It was often on the couch. (*Ibid.*) Appellant would touch her chest and vagina. (2RT 338.) He would touch her vagina over and under her clothes. (*Ibid.*) He would put his finger inside her vagina. (2RT 340.) A.J.R. remembered him doing that on three occasions. (*Ibid.*)

Appellant also penetrated her vagina with his penis. (2RT 342.) She could not remember if his penis was hard or soft. (2RT 343.) He would be in her for about 5 seconds. (*Ibid.*) She did not know if he ejaculated. (2RT 344.) He would ask her if it hurt. (*Ibid.*) Sometimes it did and other times

it did not. (*Ibid.*) He penetrated her every time they were in the garage. (2RT 355.)

Appellant called her into his room once every few weeks. (2RT 345.) His door had a lock on it. (*Ibid.*) Appellant would tell her to take off her pants and underwear. (2RT 346.) He would do the same things to her there that he did in the garage. (2RT 344.)

Sometimes appellant would go in the bathroom where she was taking a shower. (2RT 348.) He would get in the shower with her and wash her whole body. (2RT 349-350.) He would tell her to grab his penis and he would move her hand. (*Ibid.*) Again, she does not know if he ejaculated. (2RT 351.)

It happened with less frequency in her brother's room, maybe once a month. (2RT 352.) It would occur less than that in her room. (2RT 353.) Again, the same things occurred in those rooms as in the others. (2RT 352-353.)

Appellant also put his penis in her anus. (2RT 356.) He would do so even though she told him that it hurt. (*Ibid.*) He also orally copulated her two times. (3RT 379-380.) That was on the couch in the garage. (*Ibid.*)

Appellant also touched her in the house prior to the one on Olive. (2RT 360.) Again, it was the same things as happened in the later house. (*Ibid.*) She lived in that house when she was 8 years old, which was when the touchings started. (2RT 360; 3RT 368.)

When she was in the 6th or 7th grade, she put a note in her mother's purse about the fact appellant was molesting her. (2RT 362.) She did not think her mother ever saw the note. (*Ibid.*) Regardless, appellant promised never to touch her again. (2RT 361.) She thought he made this promise about 10 different times. (3RT 456.) He would say it when he had finished penetrating her. (*Ibid.*)

She wrote and drew pictures in a couple of her textbooks when she was in 7th grade that appellant has penetrated her with his penis. (3RT 370-378.)

A.M.R.

When she was 11, appellant would come into her room, which she shared with her other two sisters, and touch her. (3RT 460, 463.) He would do so when she was asleep, but the touching would wake her up. (3RT 463.) He would touch her vagina, under her clothes. (3RT 464.) He would move his hand up and down under her clothes. (*Ibid.*) Sometimes, he would put his fingers inside her vagina. (3RT 465.) She thinks it happened about 10 times. (*Ibid.*)

Sometimes, she would wear thick clothes to sleep in or pajamas that had feet on them. (3RT 466.) When she did so, he would touch her on the outside of her clothes. (*Ibid.*) She thinks he did that 5 times. (*Ibid.*)

A few times when she was in the pool, appellant would move aside her bathing suit bottom and put his finger inside her vagina. (3RT 469-470.) He would do that while he was throwing them around the pool. (3RT 471.) She estimated that happened 5 times. (3RT 472.)

M.C.

When she was 13, she was sleeping at appellant's house in F.R., A.J.R., and A.M.R.'s room. (1RT 88-89, 91.) She was on the bottom bunk of the bunk bed. (1RT 91.) About 5:00 a.m., she woke up with appellant rubbing her leg. (*Ibid.*) When he saw that she was awake, he left. (*Ibid.*) She called her parents and they came picked her up. (*Ibid.*)

In another incident, she was in bed with F.R. and coughing a lot. (1RT 92.) Appellant came into the room, put his hand in her shirt and grabbed her breast, squeezing it. (1RT 92-93.) When appellant left, M.C. asked F.R. if appellant had ever done that to her. (1RT 94.) F.R. changed the subject. (1RT 95.)

In a third incident, M.C. was trying on biking gear in the garage. (1RT 97.) Appellant was helping her adjust it and he went inside her shirt and grabbed her breasts. (*Ibid.*) She looked at him strangely and he apologized. (*Ibid.*) He had used both hands. (*Ibid.*)

In a fourth incident, she was in the pool and appellant was throwing them around. (1RT 103.) She felt appellant touch her on her breasts, butt, and her vagina. (*Ibid.*)

Finally, in a fifth incident, appellant was massaging her and F.R.'s back. (1RT 98.) He went lower and started touching their butts. (*Ibid.*) F.R. yelled at him and he walked away. (1RT 99.) F.R. then told her things that had happened to her. (*Ibid.*) F.R. and M.C. questioned A.J.R. and A.M.R. as well about if anything happened to them. (1RT 102-103.) Both said it had. (*Ibid.*)

1108 Evidence

C.B., who was 32 when she testified, dated appellant's brother Jeremy when she was in middle school. (3RT 512-513.) Appellant was about 8 to 9 years older. (3RT 513.)

One day, Jeremy and his stepsister Janelle were putting various braids in C.B.'s hair, leading to it getting tangled. (3RT 514-515.) C.B. decided, in order to help get out the knots, to take a shower. (*Ibid.*) When she got out, appellant knocked on the door. (*Ibid.*) When she opened it, appellant came in, and pushed her towards the counter. (3RT 516.) He took the towel off of her. (*Ibid.*) She was naked. (*Ibid.*)

Appellant started rubbing her breasts and vagina area. (3RT 518.) He pulled out his penis tried to insert it into her vagina. (*Ibid.*) C.B. started to

scream and bang on a window. (3RT 519.) Appellant covered her mouth. (*Ibid.*) He forced himself into her and continued until he pulled out and ejaculated on the sink. (3RT 520.) He told her to get dressed. (*Ibid.*) She took a shower again because she had scraped her back on the sink and had blood on her back. (*Ibid.*) She eventually got dressed and ran out of the apartment. (3RT 521.)

In another incident, she was having a sleepover at the apartment with Janelle. (3RT 522.) She was sleeping on the living room couch and Janelle was asleep on the floor. (*Ibid.*) Appellant came home and went into the bedroom with his girlfriend, Sarah. (*Ibid.*) She woke up and appellant was rubbing her below the waist. (*Ibid.*) She could not remember if it was underneath her clothing. (*Ibid.*) She told him to stop, getting louder. (3RT 523.) He told her to be quiet, but he eventually stopped and left the room. (*Ibid.*)

Another time, appellant picked her up in his truck to take her to a family barbeque. (3RT 524.) He parked behind some stores, got out of the truck and went around, opening her door. (3RT 525.) He turned her body so that her legs were out of the truck. (*Ibid.*) He pulled down her pants, pulled out his penis and tried getting on top of her. (3RT 526.) She was crying and telling him to stop. (3RT 527.) He did, telling her to get dressed. (*Ibid.*)

Once, C.B. was sleeping in a bed with appellant's girlfriend Sarah. (3RT 528.) Appellant got in the bed and tried to have sex with her. (*Ibid.*) He woke her up and touched her vagina. (*Ibid.*)

She testified that in addition to those specific events there were numerous times when he would grab her butt, breasts and vagina. (3RT 527.) She could not count the number of times it happened. (3RT 529.)

When she was 15, her mother found out what appellant had done to her. (3RT 529.) She called the police. (*Ibid.*) C.B. testified she did not tell the police everything that appellant had done to her. (3RT 529.) Several years prior to testifying in court, C.B. saw appellant in Arizona. (*Ibid.*) He apologized for the past and said he was willing to accept responsibility for what he had done. (3RT 531.)

R.G. was 34 when she testified. (3RT 548.) Appellant is her cousin. (*Ibid.*) Appellant's father and her mother are brother and sister. (*Ibid.*) She was close with appellant and his family when they all lived together in San Diego. (3RT 549.) At that time, She was in "mid-elementary" school. (*Ibid.*) Appellant would grab her butt over clothes. (3RT 550.) He would also pick her up and put her on his lap when his penis was erect. (3RT 551.) He told her not to say anything because then her family would get kicked out of the house. (3RT 552.)

Police Investigation

Various police officers testified to getting appellant's phone and examining the contents of it, looking for child pornography. (3RT 559-560, 589-590, 596, 605, 610, 616.) There were essentially 11,000 photos on the phone, most dealing with travel. (3RT 607.) A few were introduced including one from a website called teenku. (3RT 612-613.)

DEFENSE

An investigator examined appellant's penis. (4RT 662-664.) It had a noticeable discoloration. (*Ibid.*) A.J.R. was recalled and could not remember anything abnormal about appellant's penis. (4RT 656.)

Casmer Harmon knew appellant for 35 years. (4RT 670.) He saw appellant with the girls and did not see anything out of the ordinary. (4RT 672.) Further he saw them playing in the pool area, having fun. (*Ibid.*) He never heard anyone complain when thrown around the pool, playing. (4RT 673.) He noted that appellant was often gone working, sometimes 2-3 weeks at a time. (4RT 675.) He testified that he would have no hesitation about having appellant around his children. (*Ibid.*)

Harmon was also familiar with the garage door. (4RT 726.) It was a roll up one that was very loud. (4RT 727-728.) He never saw it shut because it was difficult to do so and because it had to be shut from the outside using a chain. (4RT 728-730.) He also could not remember a couch in the garage. (4RT 732.)

Appellant's mother also testified. (4RT 685.) Appellant was away about 85-90% of the time travelling for his company. (4RT 687.) Appellant had a good relationship with Alina's children. (4RT 688.) He was a father figure to them. (*Ibid.*) She never saw any inappropriate interaction between appellant and the girls. (4RT 689.)

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED APPELLANT'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WHEN IT BLOCKED APPELLANT'S ABILITY TO VIEW THREE OF THE FOUR ACCUSERS.

A. Introduction.

During the first break after F.R. started testifying, appellant objected that he was unable to view that witness and assist trial counsel regarding whether or not she was telling the truth. As trial counsel noted, "It does block Mr. Arredondo's entire view of the witness." (2RT 257.) Apparently, a computer monitor was repositioned so that "the witness doesn't have to look at Mr. Arredondo." (2RT 258.) The court noted that appellant "is present in court. He can hear the witness, hear her answers." (2RT 257.) As such, the court found that it was "a small infringement on his confrontation rights . . . an allowable infringement on his right to confrontation." (2RT 258.) Later, just prior to closing arguments, the prosecutor noted that the same repositioning of the computer monitor, to block appellant's view of the witness, was done for two of the other victims. (4RT 781.)

The appellate court opinion, in upholding the screen, veered sharply away from established precedent and radically alters Sixth Amendment jurisprudence regarding confrontation.

B. U.S. Supreme Court Precedent: *Coy, Craig, and Crawford.*

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States provides, “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him.” It applies to the states via the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process Clause. (*Pointer v. Texas* (1965) 380 U.S. 400, 403.)

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