### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

### PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff & Respondent,

v.

#### JASON AARON ARREDONDO,

Defendant & Appellant.

Case No. S244166 SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 2 3 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District Division Two, Case No. E064206 Riverside County Superior Court, Case Nos. RIF1310007 / RIF1403693 The Honorable DAVID A. GUNN, Judge

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

field and apply a remedy there, neglecting the others." (*Ibid.*; see also *American Bank & Trust Co. v. Community Hospital* (1984) 36 Cal.3d 359, 371 ["Countless constitutional precedents establish, however, that the equal protection clause does not prohibit a Legislature from implementing a reform measure 'one step at a time,' or prevent it 'from striking the evil where it is felt most." (Internal citations omitted.)].)

Nor should the Legislature's adoption of section 1347 be construed as an announcement that its procedures establish the constitutional minimum in this context. (See, e.g., People v. Freeman (2010) 47 Cal.4th 993, 1005 [holding that the due process clause establishes the "constitutional floor" for judicial disqualification issues, but statutes may provide broader protection].) This Court's recent opinion in People v. Contreras, supra, 4 Cal.5th 349, is instructive. There, several decisions of the United States Supreme Court indicated life sentences for juvenile offenders may be unconstitutional where the sentence did not include a meaningful opportunity for release within the offender's lifetime. (*Id.* at p. 360.) The Legislature had acted to solve the problem for some offenders by guaranteeing them a parole hearing after 25 years in prison, but the legislative remedy did not apply to the defendants in Contreras. (Id. at pp. 381-382.) This Court found the defendants' sentences unconstitutional, but did not impose the legislative remedy that applied to other offenders. (Id. at pp. 368-370.) Instead it remanded the case to the trial court with instructions to craft a constitutional sentence – one that guaranteed a meaningful opportunity for release, but not necessarily one that included a parole hearing as early as the one the Legislature granted to other offenders. (Id. at pp. 379-380.) The Legislature's act to address a constitutionally sensitive issue does not necessarily establish a constitutional minimum with respect to that issue because it is the duty of the judiciary to decide the outer bounds of constitutional rights. (See, generally, Youngstown Sheet &

Tube Co. v. Sawyer (1952) 343 U.S. 579, 595 [noting the "nature of the judicial process as the ultimate authority in interpreting the Constitution"]; and see I.N.S. v. Chadha (1983) 462 U.S. 919, 941 ["Congress has plenary authority in all cases in which it has substantive legislative jurisdiction, (citation), so long as the exercise of that authority does not offend some other constitutional restriction."].)

Finally, with respect to the specific procedural protections appellant wishes incorporated here, they were either complied with in this case or other courts have rejected the notion that they are constitutionally required. First, with respect to the motion and notice provision, the statute provides for notice three days prior to the testimony being given, or "during the course of the proceeding." (§ 1347, subd. (b).) Therefore, three days' notice was not statutorily required as the need for the accommodation became clear "during the course of the proceedings," i.e., only once Fayth appeared in court.

And while expert testimony may be helpful in some cases, it is not constitutionally required. (*Craig, supra*, 497 U.S. at p. 860 [declining to establish categorical evidentiary prerequisites]; see *State v. Crandall* (1990) 120 N.J. 649, 662-664 (*Crandall*) [noting several jurisdictions require expert testimony as a matter of state law, but "the vast majority of jurisdictions with child-witness-protection schemes similar to [the one at issue] have concluded that expert testimony is not necessarily required to justify use of the statutory procedure."]; *State v. Lewis* (S.C. Ct. App. 1996) 324 S.C. 539, 552, fn. 1 [finding that many states "apply *Craig* in a flexible manner, whereby a treating or examining expert's testimony is strongly suggested, though is not necessarily a minimum evidentiary requirement."].)

In addition, a number of states emphasize the importance of a trial court's personal observations, and recognize that where the trial court

personally observes the witness (as the trial court here did), expert testimony may be unnecessary. (See *Crandall*, *supra*, 120 N.J. at pp. 663-664; *Wildermuth v. State*, *supra*, 310 Md. at p. 524 ["expert testimony may not be essential;" testimony of parent, combined with the child's own testimony and judicial observation of the child, may suffice); *State v. Cooper* (1987) 291 S.C. 351 [finding videotape procedure appropriate after trial court conducted discussion with victim and victim's mother about victim's fear of defendant].) Reliance on the trial court's observations makes particular sense when the need for the accommodation only becomes evident during the trial, as it did in this case, when Fayth attempted to but was unable to proceed. (See *Craig*, *supra*, 497 U.S. at p. 849 [Confrontation Clause must be interpreted in manner "sensitive to the necessities of trial"].)

Similarly, while many state CCTV statutes require a showing by "clear and convincing evidence," several other states require only a showing by a "preponderance of the evidence" (see Ga. Code Ann., § 17-88-55, subd. (d); Mass. Gen. Laws Ann., § 16D, subd. (b)(1); Vernons Ann. Mo. Stats., § 491.725, subd. (4)(b); N.H. Rev. Stat., § 517:13(a))—demonstrating that the "clear and convincing" standard is not a constitutional requirement in the CCTV context, let alone a constitutional requirement in the context of live testimony with a partially obstructed view.

For the reasons set forth above, California's CCTV statute does not purport to establish the constitutional floor regarding procedural protections in this context. Section 1347 establishes only the statutory protections for the use of CCTV in this state, but it does not establish any constitutional prerequisites in this area generally, and it bears repeating that the Supreme Court in *Craig* expressly declined to adopt any such "categorical"

evidentiary prerequisites" as a matter of federal constitutional law. (*Craig*, supra, 497 U.S. at p. 860.)

#### III. ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS AS TO THE REMAINING COUNTS

Confrontation Clause violations are subject to the federal harmless-error analysis of *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, requiring reversal unless it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have reached the same verdict absent the error. (*People v. Livingston* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1145, 1159.) As *Coy* explained, "[a]n assessment of harmlessness cannot include consideration of whether the witness' testimony would have been unchanged, or the jury's assessment unaltered, had there been confrontation; such an inquiry would obviously involve pure speculation, and harmlessness must therefore be determined on the basis of the remaining evidence." (*Coy*, *supra*, at pp. 1021-1022.)

Even if this Court were to find the accommodation for Fayth infringed on appellant's constitutional rights, given the weight of the evidence, including the testimony of Ariana, Anna, Megan, and the other witnesses that appellant had a history of molesting children, any error did not affect the verdict on the remaining charges and counts under *Chapman*. Thus, his convictions on counts 1, 2, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, and 14, should be affirmed, and the case remanded to allow the People an opportunity to retry appellant on counts 3, 4, and 5, or dismiss those counts and resentence him on the remaining counts.

## IV. BECAUSE APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO OBJECT FORFEITED HIS CLAIM REGARDING THE OTHER TWO VICTIMS, THE ISSUE ON REVIEW IS LIMITED TO THE TESTIMONY OF FAYTH

Finally, appellant argues his confrontation rights were violated with respect to all three of the victims who testified behind the computer monitor —Fayth, Ariana, and Anna, not just Fayth. (AOB 24.) But, appellant did

not object to the alternate arrangement for Ariana or Anna, or request there be any findings regarding their ability to proceed. Thus, he has forfeited any claim of error as to their testimony. (*People v. Riggs, supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 324; *People v. Coffman & Marlow, supra*, 34 Cal.4th at p. 113.)

In general, challenges to evidence or procedures are forfeited unless timely raised in the trial court. (*People v. Sandoval* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 825, 837, fn. 4.) The rule of forfeiture applies with equal force to claims of constitutional violations. (*People v. Redd* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 691, 730 [finding defendant's failure to raise confrontation clause violation in the trial court forfeited the claim].) The purpose of the forfeiture rule is to "encourage parties to bring errors to the attention of the trial court, so that they may be corrected." (*In re Sheena K.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 875, 881.) That purpose is borne out here. Had appellant objected to the procedure as to Ariana and Anna, the trial court would have had an opportunity to correct the error (by lowering the monitor), or to make additional findings on the record regarding the necessity of the accommodation as to Ariana and Anna. Appellant's failure to object prevented the trial court from curing any error in the first instance.

To the extent appellant argues the trial court erred by failing to make specific factual findings on the record, that claim has likewise been forfeited. (See *People v. Williams* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 405, 448 ["The court was not required to make any particular factual findings, and certainly cannot be faulted for failing to make findings addressing the claims raised by defendant for the first time on appeal."].) Trial courts are presumed to know and follow the law: "As an aspect of the presumption that judicial duty is properly performed, we presume, ... that the court knows and applies the correct statutory and case law." (Evid. Code, § 664; *People v. Coddington* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 529, 644, overruled on other grounds in *Price v. Superior Court* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1046, 1069, fn. 13.) Further, on

review, an appellate court will infer the trial court made "all findings necessary to support the judgment." (*People v. Francis* (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 873, 878.) "[I]t is settled that: 'A judgment or order of the lower court is presumed correct. All intendments and presumptions are indulged to support it on matters as to which the record is silent, and error must be affirmatively shown. This is not only a general principle of appellate practice but an ingredient of the constitutional doctrine of reversible error." (*Denham v. Superior Court* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 557, 564.) Accordingly, the trial court's ruling is entitled to a presumption of correctness, all necessary factual findings are inferred, and any failure by the trial court to make additional factual findings on the record is attributable to appellant's failure to object. He cannot now use the record's silence to assert a claim he never raised below.

Appellant argues his forfeiture should not preclude review of these claims for two reasons: first, because an objection would have been futile, and second, if an objection was required, his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object.

As to the futility of an objection, appellant contends the trial court would have "undoubtedly" made the same finding as to the younger witnesses, as it had with Fayth. (ABOM 56.) While true that a defendant may be "excused from the necessity of ... a timely objection" if the objection would have been futile, (*People v. Hill* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 820 (*Hill*)), that futility must be shown from the record and the surrounding circumstances. (*Id.* at pp. 820-821; see also *People v. Seumanu* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1293, 1320, 1334.) The record here does not demonstrate that an objection would have been futile. The trial court was careful to make a record that the repositioning of the computer monitor was in response to Fayth's "initial reaction" when she entered the courtroom and was "unable to proceed." (2 RT 257.) Nothing indicates that the trial court would have

applied a different standard to Ariana and Anna. Presumably, had counsel objected to the position of the monitor when Ariana and Anna took the stand, the trial court would have applied the same standard and if the girls were able to proceed without the monitor, it would have removed the books from underneath it. As the Court of Appeal concluded, "Nothing in the record indicates that the trial court would have overruled separate and specific objections to raising the monitor for [Anna or Ariana], simply because it overruled the objection to raising the monitor" for Fayth. (*Arredondo*, *supra*, at pp. 979-980.) The court made a finding as to Fayth, and there is no reason to support appellant's contention it would not have made findings for Ariana and Anna. Notably, the books were taken down for the other witnesses, including the Evidence Code section 1108 victims. (4 RT 781.)

Appellant also argues his forfeiture should not preclude review of the claims as to Ariana and Anna because if an objection was required, his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to make one. (ABOM 55-57.)

However, he cannot show his counsel was deficient or that he was prejudiced. To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that counsel's representation was deficient, meaning the representation failed to meet an objective standard of professional reasonableness. A defendant must also show that he or she was prejudiced by counsel's deficient representation, i.e., the defendant must show absent counsel's deficiencies, there is a reasonable probability the result would have been more favorable to the defendant. (Strickland v. Washington (1984) 466 U.S. 668, 687-688 (Strickland); People v. Frye (1998)

There is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of professional reasonableness, and great deference should be given to counsel's tactical decisions. (*Strickland*, at p. 688; *Frye*, *supra*, at

p. 979.) On appeal, a conviction should not be reversed for ineffective assistance of counsel unless the record discloses there was no rational tactical purpose for counsel's act or omission. (*Frye*, *supra*, at p. 979.) If a defendant fails to establish either of the two prongs, the conviction must be upheld. (*Strickland*, *supra*, at p. 687). A reviewing court need not and should not attempt to determine whether counsel's performance was deficient if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice. (*Id.* at p. 697.)

Both the majority opinion and the dissent in the Court of Appeal agreed that counsel was not deficient. The majority noted defense counsel's decision not to object could have been a tactical choice to prevent additional emotional displays when the victims had to look at appellant, potentially garnering additional jury sympathy. (Arredondo, supra, at p. 980.) The dissent posited that another tactical purpose could have been that appellant would have elicited more helpful testimony if the victims were less emotionally charged, given the awkward and uncomfortable subject. In particular, to undermine the girls' direct testimony, defense counsel recalled Fayth and Ariana in the defense case so he could ask the girls to describe anything unusual about appellant's penis, which apparently had some noticeable discoloration. (Id. at p. 998 (dis. & conc. opn. of Slough, J.) The record supports both proffered tactical reasons. Because the victims were all able to testify, defense counsel was able to conduct vigorous cross-examination of all three witnesses, without interruption, and without any additional emotional outbursts that may have garnered sympathy for the victims. When the court and parties discussed whether he would be permitted to recall Fayth and Arianna in his defense case, defense counsel acknowledged the harm and disruption it may cause, but assured the court his questions would be brief to minimize the impact. (3 RT 640-641.) As there are tactical reasons that defense counsel could have had, and there is not a contrary explanation on the record, appellant cannot show his counsel was deficient. (See *People v. Pope* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 412, 426.)

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